**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**  
**In the Supreme Court**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2020-000266**

---

**Commission Docket No. 2017-292-WS**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 08 2020**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

In Re: Application of Carolina Water Service, Inc.  
for Approval of an Increase in its Rates for  
Water and Sewer Services

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Frank R. Ellerbe, III (Bar No. 1866)  
Samuel J. Wellborn (Bar No. 101979)  
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC  
1310 Gadsden Street (29201)  
Post Office Box 11449  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Telephone: 803-929-1400

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE COMMISSION COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW BY APPLYING AN INCORRECT STANDARD IN REVIEWING THE RECOVERABILITY OF EXPENSES INCURRED BY CWS IN DEFENDING THE RIVERKEEPER LITIGATION?
2. BECAUSE THE UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO THE COMMISSION REGARDING THE RIVERKEEPER LITIGATION SHOWED THAT CWS'S DEFENSE OF THAT CASE WAS PRUDENT AND REASONABLE, WAS IT AN ERROR OF LAW FOR THE COMMISSION TO DENY RECOVERY OF THE EXPENSES OF SUCH DEFENSE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a rate case filed by Carolina Water Service, Inc. (“CWS”) with the South Carolina Public Service Commission (“Commission”) in November 2017. The application was assigned Docket No. 2017-292-WS. On May 17, 2018 the Commission entered Order No. 2018-345 ruling on the issues presented in Docket No. 2017-292-WS. Among the issues decided by the Commission was that CWS should be allowed to recover in rates several categories of litigation expenses including expenses to defend litigation brought against it in federal court by the Congaree Riverkeeper (“Riverkeeper Litigation”).

Following issuance of Order No. 2018-345, the Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”) filed a petition for rehearing or reconsideration asking that the Commission reconsider a number of issues, including the recoverability of litigation expenses. The Commission granted rehearing in Order No. 2018-494 issued on July 11, 2018 and ordered the parties to address several issues including the treatment of litigation expenses from five separate legal proceedings: two administrative proceedings before the Administrative Law Court; the Riverkeeper Litigation; another federal proceeding in which CWS brought an action against the Environmental Protection Agency (“CWS v. EPA”); and the defense of a condemnation action brought by the Town of Lexington. Order No. 2018-494 (R. \_\_); Order No. 2018-802, p. 24 (R. \_\_).

The rehearing was held on September 6, 2018 and the Commission issued Order No. 2018-802 on January 25, 2019 ruling on the issues presented on rehearing. In Order No. 2018-802 the Commission revised its previous rulings on the treatment of litigation expenses for the five different proceedings as follows: the Commission deferred ruling on recoverability of expenses for the ALC and condemnation cases (\$395,426); allowed recovery of litigation expenses for the CWS v. EPA case (\$146,420); and denied any recovery of the expenses of defending the Riverkeeper Litigation (\$416,093). Order No. 2018-802, p. 24 (R. \_\_).

CWS sought reconsideration of the Commission's decision regarding the recoverability of the Riverkeeper Litigation expenses. After briefing and oral argument, on January 21, 2020 the Commission issued Order No. 2020-57 in which it denied the CWS request for reconsideration. CWS filed its notice of appeal on February 19, 2020.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Riverkeeper Litigation arose from a complex set of issues arising under the provisions of the Federal Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. §§1251 *et seq.* and spawning sporadic litigation for approximately two decades. In 1994 CWS was issued a permit by the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”) pursuant to the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) of the CWA that allowed CWS to discharge treated effluent from its I-20 wastewater treatment plant. That permit included a provision that the I-20 facility be closed and connected to a permanent, regional treatment facility when such a connection was “constructed and available.” The provision requiring closure of the I-20 facility and connection to a regional facility was included in the permit in furtherance of a policy goal of the CWA to eliminate small treatment facilities in favor of larger, regional facilities owned and operated by public entities. See 33 U.S.C.A. §1288, 33 U.S.C.A. §1281.

The only feasible connection to eliminate the CWS I-20 treatment facility was with a regional system operated by the Town of Lexington. Beginning in the late 1990s, CWS began efforts to interconnect its system with that of Lexington, but despite the efforts of CWS, DHEC, the Central Midlands Council of Governments and various other entities, the issue was not resolved until February 2018 when the I-20 facility was taken over by Lexington as a part of a condemnation action that it brought. See Rehearing Tr., at pp. 167-171.

### **South Carolina Precedent on Consolidation of Smaller Treatment Facilities into Regional Facilities.<sup>1</sup>**

The difficult issues associated with closing smaller facilities and connecting them to regional facilities have been presented to this Court in two cases that provide important background for this appeal. In *City of Columbia v. Board of Health and Environmental Control*,

---

<sup>1</sup> In this appeal, discussion of these reported decisions is appropriate in the Statement of Facts because they are important to assessing the actions of CWS in defending the Riverkeeper litigation.

292 S.C. 199, 355 S.E.2d 536 (1987) this Court addressed a similar impasse between a private sewer company and a municipality. In that case DHEC ordered the City of Columbia to either (1) acquire by condemnation or negotiation certain wastewater treatment facilities owned by the utility, or (2) allow the utility to interconnect its facilities to those of the City. On appeal, this Court affirmed the authority of DHEC to order Columbia to take those actions.

In the related case of *Midlands Utility, Inc. v. S.C. Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 313 S.C. 210, 437 S.E.2d 120 (1993) this Court considered a series of fines imposed by DHEC on the utility and held that as to certain of them DHEC could not fine the utility for permit violations that occurred during the time that Columbia was appealing the DHEC orders considered in the *City of Columbia* case. The utility made the showing that it had been unable to meet its permit limits without upgrading its facilities and that it had not been allowed to upgrade its facilities while the *City of Columbia* case was being appealed and decided. The Court found that “[b]ecause the City of Columbia, not Midlands, was the primary cause of the continued discharges at the Lincolnshire and Washington Heights systems, we hold the circuit court abused its discretion by assessing a fine against Midlands for these discharges.” *Midlands Utility, supra*, 313 S.C. at 212.

#### **DHEC Administrative Proceedings 1999-2004.**

On March 15, 2004 the DHEC Board ruled on three consolidated appeals from administrative proceedings relating to the CWS I-20 facility and the status of its NPDES permit. Rehearing Ex. 12 (R. \_\_). The appeals heard by the Board were from an order by Administrative Law Judge Ralph King Anderson III who reviewed various issues relating to the I-20 permit. Among other things Judge Anderson ruled that CWS should negotiate an interconnection agreement with Lexington and then submit the proposed interconnection agreement to the Public Service Commission for approval. Judge Anderson’s order provided a schedule for making the

connection and closing the I-20 plant if the Commission approved the interconnection agreement and provided that if the Commission disapproved the agreement the permit would expire in 180 days. Rehearing Ex. 12, p. 3 (R.\_\_).

CWS and DHEC appealed Judge Anderson's order to the DHEC Board. While those appeals were pending, CWS and Lexington negotiated an interconnection agreement and submitted it to the Commission for approval. Rehearing Ex. 12, p. 3 (R.\_\_). By the time that the DHEC Board decided the appeals, the Commission had rejected the proposed interconnection agreement. Accordingly, the Board addressed the provision in Judge Anderson's order that terminated the CWS permit 180 days after rejection of the interconnection agreement by the Commission.

All parties have further agreed that the provision in the ALJ's written decision which orders that Carolina Water Service's permit shall expire 180 days after the PSC denies Carolina Water Service's connection agreement is an error of law. This provision is an error of law not only because Carolina Water Service's permit had already expired at the time that the ALJ issued his Order, but also because the permitting regulations for discharge permits in effect at the time of this case allowed Carolina Water Service to continue operating its facility under an expired permit since the company submitted a timely application for renewal of the permit to the Department.

Rehearing Ex. 12, p. 4 (R.\_\_).

In its ruling, the DHEC Board, after reversing portions of Judge Anderson's order, adopted new provisions that allowed CWS to continue to operate the I-20 treatment plant, required continued efforts to negotiate an interconnection agreement with Lexington and required any such agreement to be submitted to the Commission for approval. Rehearing Ex. 12, p. 5 (R.\_\_).

#### **Commission 2003 Disapproval of Interconnection Agreement.**

As referenced in the DHEC Board decision of March 2004, CWS negotiated an interconnection agreement with Lexington and submitted it to the Commission for approval. See Commission Order No. 2003-10 issued in Docket No. 2002-147-S. After reviewing the tortuous

history of the CWS I-20 permit, the Commission refused to approve the interconnection agreement with Lexington because of the effect it would have on CWS customers.

The Commission concludes that the Agreement is not in the public interest and should therefore be denied. If the Agreement was approved, the proposed rate to be charged to individual customers would be excessive and would result in “rate shock” for customers in the I-20 and Watergate service areas.

\*\*\*

We further conclude that the Agreement, including the proposed rate, to be unfair, unsupported, and unreasonable because the record demonstrates that the proposed rate contained in the contract is not reflective of the true allocated cost of serving the CWS customers. Under the Agreement and proposed rate of \$3.45 per thousand gallons, the customers of CWS would be charged for facilities which are not utilized to provide their service, as well as charged for facilities and capacity for future growth. Importantly, the proposed wholesale rate would require the CWS customers to subsidize the services provided to the Town of Lexington’s current and future customers.

Order No. 2003-10, pp. 12-13.

#### **CWS Efforts to Interconnect with the Lexington System.**

The following facts relating to efforts by CWS to interconnect with Lexington’s regional wastewater collection system were undisputed in the rehearing before the Commission. Notwithstanding Lexington’s completion of its regional line in 1999, it entered into an enforcement agreement with DHEC in July 2000 that recognized that the Town did not then have the capacity to take or treat the influent flow from the I-20 System and would not have such capacity for the foreseeable future. Rehearing Tr. p. 169, ll. 10-14, Rehearing Ex. 7 at p. 12 (R.\_\_).

Upon learning that the expansion of the Cayce regional treatment facility was nearing completion such that Town would have adequate treatment capacity available for the I-20 System influent flow, CWS requested a connection of the I-20 System with the Town’s regional line on October 5, 2011 but received no response to that request. Rehearing Tr. p 169, ll. 4-7, Rehearing Ex. 7 at p. 10 (R.\_\_). After learning that the expansion of the Cayce treatment facility was completed in the fall of 2012, CWS again requested a connection to Lexington’s regional line on

July 22, 2013. On this occasion, Lexington did respond and on July 31, 2013, confirmed that it now had available to it adequate treatment capacity at the Cayce facility, but stated that it lacked pumping capacity in its own facilities to transport the I-20 System flow through its regional line to Cayce for treatment. Rehearing Tr. p. 169, ll. 8-12, Rehearing Ex. 7 at p. 12 (R.\_\_\_). The Congaree Riverkeeper, Inc. did not give its 60-day notice of intent to bring a citizen suit against CWS under the federal Clean Water Act until November 4, 2013 – several months after CWS had sought and been again denied an interconnection by Lexington. Rehearing Tr. p. 271, ll. 13-17 (R.\_\_\_). Lexington refused to provide CWS with wholesale service which would have eliminated the Company’s discharge from the I-20 System. Rehearing Tr. p. 328, l. 22 – p. 329, l.1; p. 333, l.24 – p. 334, l.1 (R.\_\_\_).

### **The Riverkeeper Litigation.**

The Riverkeeper Litigation was filed in January 2015 in federal court seeking injunctive relief requiring CWS to close the I-20 facility and interconnect its discharge to the regional system. The issues raised in the Riverkeeper Litigation were the same issues that had proved difficult since the 1990s: whether the Town of Lexington had an obligation to provide wholesale interconnection on terms that would be approved by the Commission; what authority DHEC had to require the Town and CWS to reach agreement; and whether interconnection to the regional treatment facility was “available” as required under the CWS NPDES permit. Relief sought by the plaintiff Congaree Riverkeeper against CWS included a “shutdown” of the I-20 system, notwithstanding the impact it would have had on customers. Rehearing Tr. p. 337, l.2 – p. 338, l. 20 (R.\_\_\_).

On March 30, 2017, Judge Margaret Seymour entered an order granting summary judgment against CWS in the *Riverkeeper* case. It was this order that was cited by the Commission as the principal basis for its denial of recovery of litigation expenses for the Riverkeeper Litigation. See Order No. 2018-802, at pp. 13-18. Details of the proceedings before Judge Seymour are

important, particularly Judge Seymour’s analysis of the language of the CWS permit requiring the I-20 facility to be “connected” to a regional facility when the regional system became “available.”

The terms in question are “connect” and “available.” The court finds that both “connect” and “available” are ambiguous terms with reasonable interpretations by both parties. Therefore, the court will look to extrinsic evidence to determine the meaning of the terms. Additionally, the court considers the permit in regard to the CWA’s purpose, which is to eliminate discharges from the nation’s waterways. 33 U.S.C. § 1251.

*Congaree Riverkeeper, Inc. v. Carolina Water Service*, 248 F.Supp.3<sup>rd</sup> 733, 753 (2017).

The order goes on to reject the reasonable interpretation offered by CWS that “available” means contractually available in favor of the interpretation offered by the plaintiff that “available” meant “physically available.” *Congaree Riverkeeper, supra* at 754. Based on that choice of interpretations, Judge Seymour found that CWS had violated its permit requirements and was liable under the Clean Water Act. *Congaree Riverkeeper, supra* at 755. The grant of summary judgment against CWS was based on a legal interpretation of ambiguous permit language and was not based on bad faith or other bad conduct by CWS.

Although Judge Seymour imposed a civil penalty of \$1.5 million in her summary judgment order, she subsequently vacated that penalty and allowed the parties to engage in discovery on the amount of the penalty. The parties reached a settlement agreement that was approved by Judge Seymour by order entered on March 19, 2019. Ex. 1 to CWS Supplemental Memorandum, (R.\_\_).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

As set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), “[t]he court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.” On appeal,

the court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

*Id.* As recently stated by this Court,

A decision by the commission is arbitrary “if it is without a rational basis, is based ... not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards.” *Deese v. S.C. State Bd. of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 184-85, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing *Hatcher v. S.C. Dist. Council of Assemblies of God, Inc.*, 267 S.C. 107, 117, 226 S.E.2d 253, 258 (1976); *Turbeville v. Morris*, 203 S.C. 287, 315, 26 S.E.2d 821, 832 (1943)).

*Daufuskie Island Util. Co., Inc. v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 427 S.C. 458, 463–64, 832 S.E.2d 572, 575 (2019).

## ARGUMENTS

The Commission's decision to deny CWS recovery for its expenses in defending the Riverkeeper Litigation was an error of law that should be reversed by this Court. The Commission's treatment of the request by CWS to recover these litigation expenses is a textbook demonstration of arbitrary and capricious decision-making of the type condemned by this Court in *Daufuskie*, as shown by the following:

- the decision ignored long-standing South Carolina precedent that allows utilities to recover their reasonable and prudently incurred expenses;
- the primary case relied upon by the Commission was *State ex rel. Utilities Commission v. Public Staff North Carolina Utilities Commission*, 343 S.E.2d 898 (N.C. 1986) but the Commission's reliance on that North Carolina precedent is misplaced because the Commission misread the case; and
- the Commission's decision regarding recovery of Riverkeeper Litigation expenses is inexplicably inconsistent with its treatment of litigation expenses in the CWS v. EPA case, demonstrating that its treatment of the Riverkeeper Litigation expenses was arbitrary and capricious.

1. **The uncontradicted evidence presented to the Commission regarding the Riverkeeper Litigation showed that CWS's defense of that case was prudent, reasonable, unavoidable and a core function of CWS's responsibilities as a public utility. Accordingly, it was an error of law for the Commission to deny recovery of the expenses of such defense.**

Under well-established South Carolina law, “[a]lthough the burden of proof of the reasonableness of all costs incurred which enter into a rate increase request rests with the utility, the utility's expenses are presumed to be reasonable and incurred in good faith.” *Hamm v. South Carolina Public Service Commission*, 309 S.C. 282, 266, 422 S.E.2d 110, 112 (1992). The record

in this docket does not provide a basis for overcoming the presumption that the Company's Riverkeeper Litigation expenses were reasonable and incurred in good faith. At the rehearing on this issue the ORS offered no argument that the amount of the fees CWS expended defending the Riverkeeper Litigation was unreasonable. Instead the ORS argued, and the Commission agreed, that all of CWS's Riverkeeper Litigation expenses should be disallowed on the ground that Judge Seymour found that CWS had violated its permit by not interconnecting the I-20 facility to the regional system. Rehearing Tr. p. 412, l. 19 – p. 414, l. 16. (R.\_\_); Order No. 2020-57, p. 8 (R.\_\_). That ruling is a clear error of law for the following reasons.

- CWS is a regulated provider of sewer services. Its I-20 facility treated wastewater under a permit issued by DHEC. Operation of that facility – until it could be interconnected with the regional system – was absolutely integral to CWS's ability to meet its obligation to serve its customers. Accordingly, it was the obligation of CWS to respond to and defend any legal action that threatened its ability to operate the I-20 facility until it could be interconnected to the regional system.
- This Court's ruling in *City of Columbia, supra*, established that DHEC had the authority to order the regional provider – the City of Columbia in that case; the Town of Lexington in this case – to take responsibility for the elimination of a temporary discharge – the Midlands Utility facility in that case; the CWS I-20 facility in this case. Given that precedent it was reasonable for CWS to believe that it was the primary responsibility of Lexington to negotiate in good faith an interconnection agreement that would be acceptable to the Commission.
- This Court's ruling in the *Midlands Utility, supra*, case held that a utility could not be fined for permit violations when the violations were attributable to the failure of the regional provider to take steps to connect with and eliminate the utility's discharge.

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