RECEIVED

Nov 17 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Appellate Case No. 2020-000266

Public Service Commission Docket No. 2017-292-WS

In Re: Application of Carolina Water Service, Inc. for Approval of an Increase in its Rates for
Water and Sewer Services

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA OFFICE OF REGULATORY STAFF

Jeffrey M. Nelson (SC Bar No. 12973)
Andrew M. Bateman (SC Bar No. 101114)
Steven W. Hamm (SC Bar No. 2634)
Christopher M. Huber (SC Bar No. 79857)
South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff
1401 Main Street, Suite 900
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 737-0800
jnelson@ors.sc.gov

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

Mr. Stangler testified before the Commission on behalf of the ORS that CWS's pattern of ongoing effluent discharge violations was one of the issues that brought the CWS I-20 facility to the Congaree Riverkeeper's attention and was a key factor in deciding to file the lawsuit. (R. p. 00294, line 21-p. 00295, line 21). The legal expenses at issue were incurred in defending a lawsuit in which CWS was found liable for violating the CWA not only due to its failure to connect to the regional system but also because it exceeded the effluent limitations in its permit twenty-three times. *Congaree Riverkeeper*, 248 F. Supp. 3d at 755-56; (R. p. 00768-00770).

CWS's claim that its defense of the Riverkeeper Litigation was an unavoidable and core function of its responsibilities as a public utility is both misplaced and illogical. It is clearly not a core operating function of any regulated water or sewer utility to violate federal law in its operations and then demand its customers pay for the legal defense costs incurred while attempting to defend and excuse those ongoing operating violations. CWS lost its case when the United States District Court granted summary judgment to the Congaree Riverkeeper and found CWS liable for violating the CWA. In addition, the United States District Court carefully considered a motion for reconsideration filed by CWS. The Court did not vacate its liability ruling against CWS or the fine set by the Court for CWS's effluent discharge violations and also awarded attorney fees and litigation costs to Congaree Riverkeeper under a statute only allowing for such recovery by a prevailing or substantially prevailing party. CWS expressly agreed, as part of the terms of the Settlement Agreement with Congaree Riverkeeper, not to seek vacatur of the United States District Court's orders and paid \$385,000 in attorney fees to Congaree Riverkeeper's legal counsel and \$23,000 to the United States Treasury.

CWS states in its brief that its intent is not "to persuade this Court to address the question of whether Judge Seymour was correct in her ruling" and agrees "[t]hat is not an issue for this appeal." Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 13. CWS then argues the Commission was clearly erroneous as a matter of law because "the circumstances in place from 2004 until Judge Seymour's ruling show that CWS not only was reasonable in defending the Riverkeeper Litigation but was obligated to defend the Riverkeeper Litigation." Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 14. CWS' focus on whether it was reasonable or obligated to defend the Riverkeeper Action is both misplaced and ultimately irrelevant to the federal law violations of the Clean Water Act established in the Summary Judgement ruling by the federal district court.

The Commission was correct in ruling that it is not necessary to decide whether CWS acted reasonably and its attorneys charged reasonable fees in their defense of the Riverkeeper Action. Commission Regulations required, and customers already were paying, CWS to provide its regulated services in compliance with applicable federal and state law. The United States District Court concluded that CWS failed to meet this state required operating standard. The present case and appeal is not a contested proceeding where there has been a settlement and some uncertainty as to liability remains unresolved. There is no uncertainty as to CWS liability and CWS agrees the question of whether the United States District Court was correct in its summary judgment ruling is not an issue in this appeal.

CWS argues in its brief that the litigation expenses should be recoverable from customers because its operation of the I-20 facility until it could be interconnected with the regional system “was absolutely integral to CWS’s ability to meet its obligation to serve its customers” and that CWS was obligated to defend any legal action that threatened its ability to operate the I-20 facility. The Commission considered and correctly declined to follow this rationale. CWS was being paid by its customers to comply with its NPDES permit and find a way to connect with the regional system as required under that permit, not create an emergency where the I-20 facility was forced to stop operating without alternative arrangements for its customers having been made. (Order No. 2020-57, R. pp. 00102-00103). In addition, Mr. Stangler testified that the Riverkeeper was not seeking a termination of sewer service to customers served by the I-20 system and that the District Court allowed CWS a year to obtain a resolution. (R. p. 00296, lines 15-21; R. p. 00306, lines 3-7; R. p. 00366, line 18-p. 00367, line 12). Furthermore, the United States District Court’s March 29, 2017, order directed CWS to stop discharging any treated or untreated wastewater into the Saluda River *and* “connect to a regional wastewater treatment plant, in any manner, in

accordance with the 208 Plan.” *Congaree Riverkeeper*, 248 F. Supp. 3d at 756-57; (R. pp. 00770-00771). There was no attempt to create a public health emergency whereby the customers formerly served by the I-20 plant would be without sewer service. Rather, the Riverkeeper Action was brought to stop the discharges into the Saluda River *and* compel CWS to connect with the regional system, which the District Court found CWS failed to connect in violation of its NPDES Permit for over seventeen years. *Congaree Riverkeeper*, 248 F. Supp. 3d at 755-56; (R. pp. 00767-00770).

Moreover, CWS was not, as it attempts to imply, sued by the Riverkeeper for the sole reason that it had failed to interconnect to the Town of Lexington. CWS attempts to have the Court ignore that it was also was sued by the Riverkeeper because of the numerous times CWS violated the terms of its NPDES permit by exceeding the amount the I-20 plant may discharge into the Saluda River under its NPDES permit. In concluding a \$23,000 fine was appropriate for the repeated CWS effluent limit violations, the District Court found that there was no genuine issue of material fact on CWS’s “upset defense.” *Id.* at 755-56; (R. pp. 00768-00770). The Settlement Agreement included CWS paying this \$23,000 to the United States Treasury.

In testimony before the Commission, CWS’s Operations and Regulatory Affairs Manager, Michael R. Cartin, stated that, “regulatory utilities, like any business, will experience litigation cost associated with its business operations.” (R. p. 00196, lines 4-5). Mr. Cartin further stated that “CWS agrees that penalties are not recoverable, it disagrees with ORS that the cost of ‘settlements’ are not recoverable. Settlements limit litigation costs and liability which benefits the utility and its ratepayers and recovery of litigation expenses is in the public interest.” (R. p. 00196, lines 12-13). While, as a general rule, this may be true, in this situation, because CWS only entered into a Settlement Agreement subsequent to being found liable for its repeated and multiple violations of the CWA, CWS seeks to recover moneys from its customers simply by placarding a

more palatable name over “penalty.” Accordingly, CWS seeks this Court to give it permission to conduct an improper end-around where it has been found to violate the CWA.

That CWS agrees penalties are not recoverable is inconsistent with the fact it is now seeking to recover from its customers legal costs incurred in defending a lawsuit in which there is a federal court order finding CWS liable for and assessing a fine against CWS for violating the CWA. Under the express terms of that settlement agreement, CWS cannot seek vacatur or attempt to alter that Order. Ratepayers should not pay for the CWS’s legal defense expenses associated with its litigation of case where a United States District Court found that the Company’s regulated operations had directly violated state and federal laws.

When a party presents its evidence to the Commission, the Commission has a duty to carefully review the record and fully document its findings of facts, and base its decision on reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record. *Kiawah Property Owners Group*, 357 S.C. 232 at 237, 593 S.E.2d 148 at 151. “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed blindly from one side, but is evidence which, when considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the agency reached.” *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984).

It is the responsibility of the Commission to “balance the respective interests of the company and the consumers.” *Seabrook Island Property Owners Ass’n, v. S.C. Pub’ Ser. Comm’n*, 303 S.C. 493, 498, 401 S.E.2d 672, 675 (1991). With regards to CWS’s expenses incurred in defending the Riverkeeper Action, the Commission had a duty to take the interest of the CWS’s customers into consideration. The United States District Court granted summary judgment to the Riverkeeper, concluding that Appellant CWS violated its NPDES permit for over seventeen years by not connecting to the regional system and by violating the discharge limitations in its permit

twenty-three times. *Congaree Riverkeeper*, 248 F. Supp. 3d at 755-56; (R. pp. 00767-00770). If the Commission had authorized CWS to recover its legal defense litigation costs, then the Commission would have provided all public utilities in this state a blank check to violate state and federal environmental laws, and then deny and contest in court all charges, violations, or lawsuits brought against the utility using customers funds. Fines imposed on a wastewater utility for illegal discharge are not recoverable from its ratepayers, therefore, it is confounding that CWS is seeking recovery for its litigation expenses for defending its illegal discharges.

III. The Commission Acted within Its Allowable Discretion in Finding That CWS's Customers Should Not Be Responsible for the Expenses CWS Incurred in Defending the Riverkeeper Action.

It is well established that a utility is not entitled to recover through rates the cost of fines or penalties that it incurs for violations of the law. Contrary to the Appellant's claim, there is no language in either the *Hope* or *Bluefield* decisions to support their broad allegation that the company is entitled to recovery of legal expenses incurred as a result of the defense of the Riverkeeper Action, as the United States Supreme Court did not set a standard in those cases to be applied by state commissions to determine whether utilities are entitled to recovery of such expenses. *See Bluefield Waterworks v. Public Service Commission of West Virginia*, 262 U.S. 679 (1923); *Federal Power Commission v. Hope Natural Gas Co.*, 320 U.S. 591 (1944). These cases only stand for the rule that a utility is entitled to the opportunity to earn a reasonable return. CWS was granted the opportunity to earn a very generous 10.5% return on equity.

“In the traditional cost of service approach to ratemaking, it has been generally assumed that utilities have a right to charge rates that will provide a reasonable opportunity to recover costs prudently incurred in the process of providing utility services.” *Accounting for Public Utilities*, Matthew Bender & Company, §7.01, p. 7-1 (Nov. 2019). Additionally, “a utility should not delay

recognition of a probable and estimable liability for environmental costs *until a regulator determines whether the cost is an allowable cost for ratemaking purposes.*” *Id.* §12.07[6], p. 12-50 (emphasis added). The accounting rules under which public utilities operate thus do not automatically allow for the recovery of environmental costs in rates but rather utility regulators make the determination regarding the inclusion of a specific expense in customers rates. The standard under which regulators should make this determination is whether the expense was prudently incurred “in the process of providing utility services.” *Id.*

The Commission is granted its authority from the Legislature and “has wide latitude to determine its methodology in rate-setting and there is no abuse of discretion where substantial evidence supports the finding of a just and reasonable rate.” *Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 328 S.C. 222, 233, 493 S.E.2d 92, 98 (1997) (citing *Heater of Seabrook v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 324 S.C. 56, 478 S.E.2d 826 (1996)). This Court has additionally held that “[t]he PSC’s findings are presumptively correct, requiring the party challenging an order to show the decision is ‘clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.’” *Kiawah Property Owners Group*, 357 S.C. at 237, 593 S.E.2d at 151 (citing *Total Env’tl. Solutions, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 351 S.C. 175, 568 S.E.2d 365 (2002); *Heater of Seabrook, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 324 S.C. 56, 478 S.E.2d 826 (1996)).

There is nothing in the record of this case which supports a claim that the Commission in any way abused its discretion. Appellant’s only arguments at rehearing and on appeal are that the attorney’s fees and cost were a reasonable amount or that CWS did not violate its NPDES in its failure to connect to the regional system because the Town of Lexington prevented it from doing so. The United States District Court ultimately rejected that argument. CWS agrees the question

of whether the District Court was correct “is not an issue for this appeal.” Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 13.

CWS has asked that this Court allow it to collect from customers the expenses of unsuccessfully defending the Riverkeeper Action by both substituting its judgment for that of the Commission and disregarding the rulings of the United States District Court. However, “the Court may not substitute its judgment for the Commission’s on questions about which there is room for a difference of intelligent opinion.” *Duke Power Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 343 S.C. 554, 558, 541 S.E.2d 250, 252 (2001). “Because the Commission's findings are presumptively correct, the party challenging a Commission order bears the burden of convincingly proving the decision is clearly erroneous, or arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.” *Id.* CWS has failed to carry that burden here. The Commission’s orders provided a clear and reasonable basis for the Commission’s decision that the Riverkeeper Action legal expenses should not be forced on to its customers.

Costs or expenses of a utility are not recoverable simply because they are incurred by a utility. Once any such expenses are challenged, as they were here by ORS, it is the utility’s burden to prove to the regulator that the costs were prudently incurred to provide utility services. See, *Accounting for Public Utilities*, §7.01, p. 7-1; *Hamm v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n of S.C.*, 309 S.C. 282, 286-87, 422 S.E.2d 110, 112-13 (1992).

IV. The Commission’s Decision Regarding Litigation Expenses in Connection with the Riverkeeper Action Is Not Inconsistent with Its Allowance of Litigation Expenses Incurred due to the CWS v. EPA Case and Its Allowance of CWS v. EPA Litigation Expenses Does Not Demonstrate the Commission’s Decision Regarding Riverkeeper Action Litigation Expenses Was Arbitrary or Capricious.

After the filing of the Riverkeeper Action, CWS initiated a lawsuit in federal court against the Environmental Protection Agency and Town of Lexington seeking a determination it was the

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